RECEIVED

Oct 19 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Kristi F. Curtis, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2023-000435

---

The Cottages at Garden City Beach, LP, .....Appellant,

v.

Murrells Inlet-Garden City Fire District, .....Respondent,

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

BELLAMY, RUTENBERG, COPELAND,  
EPPS, GRAVELY & BOWERS, P.A.  
P.O. Box 357  
Myrtle Beach, SC 29578  
(843)448-2400  
[dmiller@bellamylaw.com](mailto:dmiller@bellamylaw.com)  
[zcrowl@bellamylaw.com](mailto:zcrowl@bellamylaw.com)  
Attorneys for Appellant

s/ Zachary J. Crowl

---

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. The decision of MIGC to impose a 2% fire impact fee on the Swells Cottages and the Circuit Court's affirmation of that decision is affected by an error of law and clearly erroneous because the fact that the Swells Cottages homes are rented instead of owned does not render them commercial.
- II. The decision of MIGC to impose a 2% fire impact fee on the Swells Cottages and the Circuit Court's affirmation of that decision is affected by an error of law and clearly erroneous because the MIGC Manual controls the application of the enabling legislation.
- III. MIGC's disregard of the Opinion of the Attorney General and decision to charge the Swells Cottages differently than like structures and the Circuit Court's affirmation of those decisions is arbitrary, capricious, and characterized by an abuse of discretion.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

MIGC first imposed the 2% fire impact fee on Appellant in July of 2021. Appellant demanded a hearing in front of the MIGC Board to contest the application of the 2% fire impact fee.

On August 23, 2021, Appellant presented its arguments to the Board of Directors of MIGC during a Board of Directors Meeting. After this meeting, the Board of Directors sought an Opinion from the Office of the Attorney General of South Carolina on this matter. The Attorney General's Office found in favor of Appellant and concluded that the Swells Cottages should be charged the one percent impact fee as single family residences. The Attorney General's Opinion is included in the Record on Appeal.

Seven months after Appellant presented its position to the Board of Directors, the Board rejected the Opinion of the Attorney General's Office and voted 5 – 0 to deny the request of the Appellant for a refund of impact fees paid. Appellant received written notice of the Board's decision on March 28, 2022.

Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal with the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit Court in Horry County on April 22, 2022. The Circuit Court heard the appeal on November 29, 2022 via Web Ex. On December 8, 2022 the Court issued an Order affirming the decision of MIGC.

Appellant filed a Motion to Reconsider Pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCF and to Supplement the Record on December 15, 2022. On February 10, 2023, the Court issued an Order, without hearing oral arguments, denying Appellant's Motion to Reconsider while allowing the supplement to the Record.

Appellant filed and served its Notice of Appeal to this Court on March 13, 2023.

## **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

### **Swells Cottages**

Swells Cottages is a residential neighborhood developed by Appellant which consists of 221 detached single family residences. Please see Exhibit 1 of Appellants' Brief to the MIGC Board which provides several pictures of the Swells Cottages neighborhood.<sup>6</sup> Each house is a stand-alone home being one or two stories with its own separate means of ingress and egress.<sup>7</sup> Exhibit 2 of Appellants' Brief to the MIGC Board provides an example of a house in Swells Cottages.<sup>8</sup> The residents who live in these homes enjoy spaces for living, sleeping, eating, cooking, and bathing.<sup>9</sup> Exhibit 3 of Appellants' Brief to the MIGC Board shows the floor plans of each house design as well as a look inside the home.<sup>10</sup> Not one of the homes has a roof, wall, or floor in common with any other dwelling.<sup>11</sup> The Swells Cottages are not condominiums, they

---

<sup>6</sup> Pictures of Swells Cottages. R. pp. 108-110.

<sup>7</sup> Picture of a Home in Swells Cottages. R. p. 111; Floor Plans and Interior of the Homes in Swells Cottages. R. pp. 112-120; Affidavit of the Owner of Swells Cottages. R. pp. 121-122; Letter from the Architect. R. pp. 123-124.

<sup>8</sup> Picture of a Home in Swells Cottages. R. p. 111.

<sup>9</sup> Floor Plans and Interior of the Homes in Swells Cottages. R. pp. 112-120; Affidavit of the Owner of Swells Cottages. R. pp. 121-122; Letter from the Architect. R. pp. 123-124.

<sup>10</sup> Floor Plans and Interior of the Homes in Swells Cottages. R. pp. 112-120.

<sup>11</sup> Letter from the Architect. R. pp. 123-124.

are not townhouses, they are not high rise buildings. They are not commercial construction. The Swells Cottages are single family residences.

John Morrison of The Cottages at Garden City Beach, LP, executed an affidavit in connection with this matter to assure the MIGC Board of Directors that the Swells Cottages are in fact single family detached houses.<sup>12</sup> The affidavit is Exhibit 4 of Appellants' Brief to the MIGC Board. In his affidavit, Mr. Morrison affirms that the homes in Swells Cottages are single family residences and that any commercial activity conducted in the homes is prohibited and a violation of the residential only requirement.<sup>13</sup> The prohibition against commercial activity is documented in the leases signed by each resident.

Gregory Huddy of C3 Studio, LLC is the architect of the Swells Cottages community. Mr. Huddy wrote a letter to MIGC which addresses the residential nature of the homes in Swells Cottages.<sup>14</sup> This letter is Exhibit 5 of Appellants' Brief to the MIGC Board. Mr. Huddy highlights several important factors which demonstrate that these houses are single family residences:

- The Swells Cottages houses are independent living facilities including spaces for living, sleeping, eating, cooking, and sanitation just like any other residence;<sup>15</sup>
- Each of the 221 dwellings were separately submitted for single family residence permitting under the International Residential Code;<sup>16</sup>
- These are detached single family residential cottages that are designed for and occupied by not more than one family with a separate means of egress and having no roof, wall or floor in common with any other dwelling unit. By the virtue of these characteristics, the occupancy of these structures are detached one-family dwellings.<sup>17</sup>

---

<sup>12</sup> Affidavit of the Owner of Swells Cottages. R. pp. 121-122.

<sup>13</sup> Id. R. pp. 121-122.

<sup>14</sup> Letter from the Architect. R. pp. 123-124.

<sup>15</sup> Id. R. pp. 123-124.

<sup>16</sup> Id. R. pp. 123-124.

<sup>17</sup> Id. R. pp. 123-124.

Horry County has likewise defined these homes as residential. This is evidenced by the fact that *the homes in Swells Cottages are each individually permitted as Single Family Residential.*<sup>18</sup> *Building Permits issued by the County are as stand-alone single family homes.*<sup>19</sup> *It is particularly instructive that each Permit lists the Description of the Work as “New Single Family Residential”.*<sup>20</sup> *Horry County has also issued each home a separate Certificate of Occupancy stating that the Occupancy Type is Residential.*<sup>21</sup>

The decision of MIGC is in direct opposition to governmental approvals of the County within which it functions and from which it receives a substantial portion of its income. In fact, its own Manual (addressed below) defers to the County’s designation wherein it states, “Definitions for terms found in this manual relative to occupancy or construction practices shall be consistent with the definitions found in the edition of the International Building and Fire Code in use by either the Georgetown County Building Department, Georgetown County, SC, or the Horry County Code Enforcement Department, Conway, SC.”<sup>22</sup>

#### Fire Impact Fee: Enabling Legislation & Manual

In 1985, the General Assembly of South Carolina granted MIGC authority to impose a fire impact fee on all new construction.

The fee is one percent of the cost of construction of single family residences and two percent of the cost of construction of condominiums and townhouses, high rise buildings, and all commercial construction.

S. 639, S.C. Gen. Assemb. 106<sup>th</sup> Sess. (1985-1986).

This enabling legislation fails to define “single family residences” or “commercial construction”.

---

<sup>18</sup> Horry County Residential Building Permits. R. pp. 125-130.

<sup>19</sup> Id. R. pp. 125-130.

<sup>20</sup> Id. R. pp. 125-130.

<sup>21</sup> Horry County Certificate of Occupancy. R. p. 338.

<sup>22</sup> MIGC Fire Impact Fee Administration Manual, 4. R. p. 244.

In implementing the enabling legislation, MIGC adopted a Fire Impact Fee Administration Manual which defines the terms “single family residences” and “commercial construction”.<sup>23</sup> The Manual states:

5.0 Definitions

**Definitions for terms found in this manual relative to occupancy or construction practices shall be consistent with the definitions found in the edition of the International Building and Fire Code** in use by either the Georgetown County Building Department, Georgetown County, SC, or the Horry County Code Enforcement Department, Conway, SC within their respective jurisdictions except where said definitions conflict with the definition herein contained. Where said definitions do conflict with the definitions herein contained, then the definition herein contained will control.<sup>24</sup>

...

6.1 Residential Structures

**Residential Structures shall be single or multi-family structures not constructed for commercial use**, or any permanent structure of value that is ancillary to any such residential structure shall, at the time of permitting for construction, be charged a fire impact fee of 1.0 percent of the value of construction.<sup>25</sup>

6.2 Commercial Structures

**A new building or structure, as defined by the currently adopted edition of the International Building Code as an assembly, Business, Educational, Factory and Industrial, High Hazard, Institutional, Commercial Use Residential, Storage, or Utility and Miscellaneous or other uses not specifically listed as Residential**; or any permanent building or applicable structure of value that is ancillary to any such structure shall, at the time of permitting for construction, be charged a fire impact fee of 2.0 percent of the value of construction.<sup>26</sup>

Emphasis added.

The Manual classifies the type of construction through reference and incorporation of the International Building Code which specifically excludes structures regulated by the International Residential Code, such as the Swells Cottages. The International Residential Code applies to the

---

<sup>23</sup> Id. at 4, 6. R. pp. 244, 246.

<sup>24</sup> Id. at 4. R. p. 244.

<sup>25</sup> Id. at 6. R. p. 246.

<sup>26</sup> Id. at 6. R. p. 246.

construction of detached one and two family dwellings not more than three stories with a separate means of egress. International Residential Code (2018), § 101.2. A dwelling is defined by the International Residential Code as “any building that contains one or two dwelling units used, intended, or designed to be built, used, *rented*, leased, let or hired out to be occupied, or that are occupied for living purposes.” *Id.*, § 202. (Emphasis added). There is no factual dispute that the single family dwellings of Swells Cottages are designed, permitted, built, and regulated in accordance with the International Residential Code.

#### Fire Impact Fee Application to Similarly Situated Properties

Numerous rental-only properties in the MIGC district have been charged a single family residence impact fee of 1%. Two examples are located at 1311 S. Waccamaw Drive, Garden City and 1465 S. Waccamaw Drive, Garden City.<sup>27</sup> These buildings operate solely as short term rentals and have more rooms accommodating more occupants than the Swells Cottages homes.

Similarly, countless Tract Home subdivisions have been built by National Builders within the MIGC district and have been charged the 1% fee. The only difference between the Tract Home subdivisions and the Swells Cottages are that the National Builders sell the homes and the residents make payments to the bank each month while the Swells Cottages are rented and payments are made to Appellant each month instead of the bank. The use remains the same.

---

<sup>27</sup> Rental Listings of Like Properties. R. pp. 141-142.

### Changes to the Manual – No Long Term Effect of This Decision

On August 22, 2022, MIGC revised its Manual for the first time in over two and a half years.<sup>28</sup> These revisions coincided with the Appeal of the MIGC decision to the Circuit Court. The amendments made by MIGC specifically change the definitions of single family residences and commercial construction and directly impact the assessment of the fire impact fees.<sup>29</sup> Therefore, the decision on this matter will not operate prospectively.

### Current Posture

Appellant has paid the two percent impact fee based on the agreement of the parties that fees paid above one percent will be held in escrow until the resolution of this matter.<sup>30</sup> These funds are still being held in escrow. The Appellant must be refunded the fees paid over and above one percent of the construction costs.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The only facts in the Record on Appeal are those submitted by Appellant. Accordingly, there exist no issues of fact in this matter.

This Court may reverse or modify the decision if substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the administrative findings or conclusions are affected by an error of law, clearly erroneous in view of the substantial evidence in the record, or arbitrary, capricious, or characterized by an abuse of discretion. Peake v. S.C. Dep't of Motor Vehicles, 375 S.C. 589, 594, 654 S.E.2d 284, 287 (Ct. App. 2007); Sanders v. S.C. Dep't of Motor Vehicles, 431 S.C. 374, 382, 848 S.E.2d 768, 772–73 (2020).

---

<sup>28</sup> Revised MIGC Fire Impact Fee Administration Manual. R. pp. 330-337.

<sup>29</sup> Id. at 4, 6. R. pp. 333, 335.

<sup>30</sup> Letter from the Bellamy Law Firm to MIGC. R. pp. 255-256.

## ARGUMENT

**I. The decision of MIGC to impose a 2% fire impact fee on the Swells Cottages and the Circuit Court's affirmation of that decision is affected by an error of law and clearly erroneous because the fact that the Swells Cottages homes are rented instead of owned does not render them commercial.**

The South Carolina Court of Appeals along with courts in numerous jurisdictions have considered whether rental homes should be categorized as residential or commercial. See Cnty Servs. Asocs. v. Wall, 421 S.C. 575, 808 S.E.2d 831 (Ct. App. 2017); Erthal v. May, 223 N.C. App. 373, 736 S.E.2d 514 (2012); Russell v. Donaldson, 222 N.C. App. 702, 731 S.E.2d 535 (2012) (citing Slaby v. Mt. River Estates Residential Ass'n, 100 So. 3d 569 (Ala. Civ. App. 2012)); Santa Monica Beach Prop. Owners Ass'n v. Acord, 219 So. 3d 111 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2017). This question is typically analyzed in the context of whether short term rentals violate either zoning or covenants restricting lots to residential purposes and prohibiting commercial use. In South Carolina, this question is answered by looking to the use within the property; not ownership. See Cnty Servs. Asocs. v. Wall, 421 S.C. 575, 808 S.E.2d 831 (Ct. App. 2017). The South Carolina Court of Appeals has considered and ruled that short term rentals did not violate a requirement that all lots shall be used for residential purposes. Id.

The South Carolina Court of Appeals holding is consistent with courts from the majority of other jurisdictions which have uniformly held that covenants prohibiting business and commercial use of property do not bar short term rentals. Russell, 731 S.E. 2d 535, 538-39 (2012) (citing Yogman v. Parrott, 325 Ore. 358, 937 P.2d 1019, 1021 (Or. 1997); Silsby v. Belch, 2008 ME 104, 952 A.2d 218, 222 (Me. 2008); Slaby v. Mt. River Estates Residential Ass'n, 100 So. 3d 569, 571, 580 (Ala. Civ. App. 2012)); Santa Monica Beach Prop. Owners Ass'n, 219 So. 3d 111, 114 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2017) (citing cases from Kentucky, Colorado,

Washington, New Mexico, North Carolina, Alabama, Indiana, Virginia, Maryland, Missouri, Idaho, Oregon, Ohio, Tennessee, and Texas).

The critical question in these cases has been whether the renters are using the property for ordinary living purposes such as eating, sleeping, and engaging in recreation normally incident thereto. See Id.; see also Cmty Servs. Asocs. v. Wall, 421 S.C. 575, 808 S.E.2d 831 (Ct. App. 2017). The residents of the Swells Cottages homes rent these properties long term to use solely for residential purposes.

**II. The decision of MIGC to impose a 2% fire impact fee on the Swells Cottages and the Circuit Court's affirmation of that decision is affected by an error of law and clearly erroneous because the MIGC Manual controls the application of the enabling legislation.**

The Circuit Court's first Order affirming MIGC's decision did not address the MIGC Manual relative to the application of the enabling legislation.<sup>31</sup> The argument that the MIGC Manual does not control first appeared in Respondent's Memo in Opposition to Appellant's Motion to Reconsider.<sup>32</sup> This argument was then adopted by the Circuit Court in its Order denying Appellant's Motion to Reconsider.<sup>33</sup>

As a state administrative agency, MIGC is afforded deference in defining the enabling legislation. The deference doctrine in South Carolina provides that where an agency charged with administering a statute or regulation has construed the statute or regulation, courts will defer to the agency's explanation absent compelling reasons. Kiawah Dev. Partners, II v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env't Control, 411 S.C. 16, 34, 766 S.E.2d 707, 718 (2014).

---

<sup>31</sup> Order of the Circuit Court affirming the decision of MIGC. R. pp. 003-005.

<sup>32</sup> MIGC Response to Motion for Reconsideration, 3 – 4. R. pp. 193-194.

<sup>33</sup> Order of the Circuit Court Denying Motion to Reconsider, 3 – 5. R. pp. 008-010.

Applying statutes and regulations administered by an administrative agency is a two-step process. Id. at 717. The Court must first determine whether the language of a statute or regulation directly speaks to the issue. Id. If so, the Court must utilize the clear meaning of the statute or regulation. Id. (citing Brown v. Bi-Lo, Inc., 354 S.C. 436, 440, 581 S.E.2d 836, 838 (2003)). However, if the statute or regulation is silent or ambiguous with respect to the specific issue, the Court must give deference to the agency's application of the statute or regulation, assuming the application is worthy of deference. Id. (citing Chevron, U.S.A., Inc. v. Natural Res. Def. Council, Inc., 467 U.S. 837, 843, 104 S.Ct. 2778, 81 L.Ed.2d 694 (1984)); Brown v. Bi-Lo, 354 S.C. at 440, 581 S.E.2d at 838.

In this State, the construction given to enabling legislation by an administrative agency is always entitled to the most respectful consideration, and ought not to be overruled without cogent reasons. Id. at 718 (citing Read Phosphate Co. v. South Carolina Tax Commission, 169 S.C. 314, 168 S.E. 722 (1933)). Thus, South Carolina Courts give deference to administrative agencies both because they have been entrusted with administering their statutes and regulations and because they have unique skill and expertise in administering those statutes and regulations. Id. As repeatedly stated in South Carolina jurisprudence, the deference doctrine provides that courts defer to an agency's explanations with respect to the enabling legislation entrusted to its administration or its own regulations unless there is a compelling reason to differ. Id. (citing S.C. Coastal Conservation League v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control, 363 S.C. 67, 75, 610 S.E.2d 482, 486 (2005)); see also, e.g., Barton v. S.C. Dep't of Prob., Parole & Pardon Servs., 404 S.C. 395, 415, 745 S.E.2d 110, 121 (2013); CFRE, LLC v. Greenville Cnty. Assessor, 395 S.C. 67, 77, 716 S.E.2d 877, 882 (2011); Buist v. Huggins, 367 S.C. 268, 276, 625 S.E.2d 636, 640 (2006); Brown v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control, 348 S.C. 507, 515. 560 S.E.2d 410,

414 (2002); Glover by Cauthen v. Suitt Constr. Co., 318 S.C. 465, 469, 458 S.E.2d 535, 537 (1995); Faile v. S.C. Employment Sec. Comm'n, 267 S.C. 536, 540, 230 S.E.2d 219, 222 (1976); Hadden v. S.C. Tax Comm'n, 183 S.C. 38, 48, 190 S.E. 249, 253 (1937).

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