RECEIVED

Oct 10 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Kristi F. Curtis, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-000435

The Cottages at Garden City Beach, LP,Appellant,

v.

Murrells Inlet-Garden City Fire District, Respondent,

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

s/Michael W. Battle

Michael W. Battle, Esquire SC Bar #584

Battle Law Firm, LLC

PO Box 530

Conway, SC 29528

(843)248-4321

mbattle@battlelawsc.com

Attorney for Respondent

Conway, South Carolina

October 10, 2023

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

DISCUSSION

- I. *The decision of MIGC to impose a 2% fire impact fee on Swells Cottages and the Circuit Court’s affirmation of that decision is correct because Swells Cottages fall within the meaning of commercial construction under Act 272 of 1985.*

The first issue on appeal concerns the statutory interpretation of Act 272 of 1985. The primary purpose in interpreting statutes is to ascertain and effectuate the intent of the legislature. Cain v. Nationwide Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co., 378 S.C. 25, 29, 661 S.E.2d 349

(2008); Denman v. City of Columbia, 387 S.C. 131, 138, 691 S.E.2d 465 (2010). When faced with an undefined statutory term, the court must interpret the term in accord with its usual and customary meaning. See Santee Cooper Resort, Inc. v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 298 S.C. 179, 184, 379 S.E.2d 119 (1989) (“Words used in a statute should be taken in their ordinary and popular significance unless there is something in the statute requiring a different interpretation.”). “The terms must be construed in context and their meaning determined by looking at the other terms used in the statute.” Hinton v. S.C. Dep't of Prob., Parole & Pardon Servs., 357 S.C. 327, 332–33, 592 S.E.2d 335 (Ct. App. 2004), cert. granted (Jan. 7, 2005) (citing S. Mut. Church Ins. Co. v. S.C. Windstorm & Hail Underwriting Ass'n, 306 S.C. 339, 342, 412 S.E.2d 377 (1991); Liberty Mut. Ins. Co. v. S.C. Second Inj. Fund, 363 S.C. 612, 622, 611 S.E.2d 297 (Ct. App. 2005)).

MIGC contends its findings in the present appeal should be given deference under the deference doctrine. The deference doctrine provides that courts defer to an administrative agency's interpretations with respect to the statutes entrusted to its administration or its own regulations “unless there is a compelling reason to differ.” Kiawah Development Partners, II, 411 S.C. at 33. If the statute or regulation “is silent or ambiguous with respect to the specific issue,” the court then must give deference to the agency's interpretation of the statute or regulation, assuming the interpretation is worthy of deference. Id. Also see Chevron, U.S.A., Inc., 467 U.S. at 843;

The pertinent part of Act 272 of 1985 states:

SECTION 1. In addition to the powers and duties provided for the governing body of the Murrell's Inlet-Garden City Fire District in Georgetown and Horry counties by Act 876 of 1966, the Board may impose, one time only, an impact fee on all buildings under construction on the effective date of this act and all new construction and all new additions. The fee is one percent of the cost of construction of single-

family residences and two percent of the cost of construction of condominiums and townhouses, high rise buildings, and all commercial construction. The fees must be used to purchase and maintain fire-fighting equipment. *Act 272 of 1985. [R.240]*

The purpose of the Act is to create an impact fee to be administered by MIGC and the Act establishes some parameters for how the impact fee burden is to be distributed. Property owners of a single-family residence pay 1% of the cost of construction. Condominium developments and townhouse developments, high rise buildings, and all commercial construction developments pay 2% of the costs of construction. Appellant claims its 221 cottages should be classified as “single family residences” triggering the 1% of the costs of construction impact fee. MIGC contends Appellant’s cottages do not qualify as single-family residences as that category is used in the Act. MIGC contends that Swells Cottages are a commercial real estate development that is a hybrid extension of high rise apartment developments, condominium developments and townhouse developments that existed in 1985 when Act 272 of 1985 was enacted. The commercial developments that were being built in Horry County and Georgetown County provide the context in which Act 272 of 1985 should be interpreted. See Hinton v. S.C. Dep’t of Prob., Parole & Pardon Servs., 357 S.C. 327, 592 S.E.2d 335 (Ct. App. 2004)

The phrase “single family residence” is not defined in the Act. Appellant has attempted to use an uncommon or rare permutation of the meaning of “single family residence” to determine how to distribute the financial burdens of the impact fee. Appellant claims the construction standards found in the International Residential Code controls the definition of “single family residence” as that term is used in the Act. MIGC contends that Appellant’s definition of “single family residence” runs afoul of state or

federal laws and counter to court decisions when distributing an impact fee burden. See Lindbloom, Carl G.. *The Latest Illustrated Book of Development Definitions* (p. xxii). Taylor and Francis. Kindle Edition.

The purpose of an impact fee is to fairly distribute the capital improvement costs of growth and development among those who are generating the need for the impact fee services. See J.K. Const., Inc. v. W. Carolina Reg'l Sewer Auth., 336 S.C. 162, 172, 519 S.E.2d 561 (1999); Also see Roger K. Dahlstrom, Roger K. Dahlstrom, Roger K. Dahlstrom, Development Impact Fees: A Review of Contemporary Techniques for Calculation, Data Collection, and Documentation, 15 N. Ill. U. L. Rev. 557 (1995). Two principles are implied in Act 272 of 1985 on how to distribute the financial burdens of the impact fee. Those principles are: 1) the benefits principle, and 2) the ability-to-pay-principle. The benefits principle suggests that people should pay impact fees based on the benefits they receive. The ability-to-pay principle states that the financial burden of the impact fee should be imposed on people according to how well they can carry the burden.

MIGC contends Act 272 of 1985 is intended to distribute the impact fee based on the ability to pay principle and/or on the receipt of benefits. MIGC contends commercial real estate developers generally have a better ability to pay impact fees. They control the price, design, and profit to be made from the type of commercial developments they choose to build. The intent to impose a 2% impact fee on real estate developers can be inferred from the specific categories contained in Act 272 of 1985. In 1985 condominium developments, townhouse developments and high-rise buildings for apartments or hotels were the provenance of commercial real estate developers who sold the units to investors or second homeowners. Most of those real estate developments required changes in

zoning ordinances. On the other hand, single family residences were traditionally non-income producing structures on single family lots typically owned by one family. The families who own single family residences generally depend upon their homes for shelter and not for profit.

MIGC contends the consideration of benefits received can be inferred in the Act from the additional expense and difficulty incurred by MIGC in fighting fires in the specific categories of condominiums, townhouses or high-rise buildings included in Act 272 of 1985. MIGC contends those same additional expenses and difficulties can be found in fighting fires involving Swells Cottages. Although the cottages in Swells Cottages are detached and they appear to be constructed using the building standards required for single family residences, they are not located on single family lots. Appellant's 221 cottages are crammed together with reduced setback requirements and many of Appellant's cottages are not readily accessible to streets that can be used by MIGC's firefighting equipment.

MIGC contends the commercial nature of Appellant's Swells Cottages development and the additional expenses caused by the close proximity of its cottages, supports MIGC's distinction of Appellant's cottages from single family residences. Other S.C. authorities tend to support MIGC's position.

The *South Carolina Abandoned Buildings Revitalization Act* declared that the construction of a single-family residence is not an income producing purpose. *S.C. Code Ann. § 12-67-130*. In the present case, the sole purpose for the construction of Appellant's cottages is to produce income for the Appellant. The *South Carolina Resilience Revolving Fund* act states "Primary single-family residence" means a single detached dwelling that

is occupied as the main home by the owners for the majority of the year. *S.C. Code Ann. § 48-62-310*. In the present case, Appellant’s cottages are not occupied by their owners.

MIGC’s determination that the cottages in Swells Cottages are not single-family residences is supported also by the Horry County zoning ordinances which govern the MIGC fire district. The previous Horry County zoning code stated: “Single-family residence—separately built means a noncommercial dwelling that is occupied exclusively by one (1) family and not part of a residential subdivision development.” *Horry County Ordinances Sec. 17.7-27. – Definitions*. In the present case, Appellant’s cottages are not defined as single family residences under the County’s previous zoning ordinance because they are commercial income producing cottages. *Id.*

The zoning district for Appellant’s development was changed from a Highway Commercial zoning district to a MRD-3 zoning district to accommodate Appellant. Although MRD-3 does allow single family residences, Appellant’s development would not be allowed to be built in a single-family residential zoning district in Horry County. The zoning use of property in a single-family residential zoning district is controlled by § 505 of the current Horry County Zoning Code. That section provides the following limitation:

505. - One principal building on a single-family residential lot.

Only one (1) principal building and its customary accessory buildings may hereafter be erected on any single-family residential lot unless otherwise specified in Section 619. The connection of two (2) buildings by means of an open porch, breezeway, carport, or other such open structure, with or without a roof, shall not make them one (1) building.

The only permitted zoning use allowed in an Horry County single family residential zoning district is one principal building on a single-family residential lot. *§505 Zoning*

Code. Appellant's cottages do not qualify as single-family residences under the present Horry County zoning code. Appellant is placing 221 principal buildings on a single parcel. For that reason Appellant's zoning district was changed from Highway Commercial to Multi-Family Residential instead of Single Family Residential.

For mortgage lenders the ordinary and customary use of the phrase "commercial construction" is a phrase that is commonly used to differentiate between commercial construction loans and residential construction loans. See *Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (OCC) Acquisition, Development, and Construction Lending*, 2013 WL 4628579, at *2.² The OCC defines loans to developments containing 5 or more apartments to be commercial real estate loans where the primary source of repayment is from rental income associated with the property. 12 C.F.R. § 373.14 MIGC contends that rental payments from Appellant's 221 cottages would be the primary source of repayment for its loans and those loans would be classified as commercial construction loans by the OCC. Commercial construction loans are a class of loans designed to provide funding for supplies and labor on buildings, develop the land, or acquire acreage to develop it. MIGC contends Appellant's financing must come in the form of a commercial construction loan to finance the Swells Cottages development. Appellant cannot obtain individual residential financing for each cottage because the tract is not subdivided into individual lots.

² The Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (OCC) charters, regulates, and supervises all national banks and federal savings associations as well as federal branches and agencies of foreign banks. The OCC is an independent bureau of the U.S. Department of the Treasury and is led by the Comptroller of the Currency. A bank's commercial construction lending activities can encompass a wide variety of projects ranging from apartment, condominium, and office buildings, to shopping centers and hotels. *Construction Lending*, 1995 WL 903077, at *3.

Act 272 of 1985 does not contain any reference to building codes or construction standards for its distribution of the impact fee burden. Appellant claims the fact that the cottages meet the standards for single family residential construction in the International Residential Code (IRC) supports its position that its cottages are single family residences. However, MIGC's fire chief stated at the hearing that townhouses also meet those same single family residential construction standards and are referenced in the IRC. The Act expressly includes townhouses in the category that should be charged a 2% service impact fee. The IRC does not distinguish between townhouses and single family residences. The IRC governs construction standards. MIGC contends it was never intended to govern the distribution of impact fees.

The construction costs of individual cottages are only used in the Act to determine the basis for assessing the amount of the impact fee for each cottage. The purpose of the Act is to provide money to MIGC to purchase firefighting equipment. One look at the pictures of Swells Cottages' layout shows that different firefighting equipment will be needed to access several of the cottages and supply the means to fight fires in those cottages. MIGC contends that if the impact fee burden is distributed considering the amount of service provided, Swells Cottages' owner should pay more for fire protection than single family residence owners which have separate ingress and egress to public streets. [R. 203-206].

Appellant claims that MIGC and the Circuit Court classified Appellant's cottages as commercial construction under Act 272 of 1985, primarily because Appellant rented the cottages instead of selling them. MIGC disputes Appellant's claim. As stated by the Circuit Court Judge MIGC looked at Swells Cottages as a whole and determined it was a

commercial enterprise with many of the same features of condominium developments and townhouse developments. [R. 4] MIGC contends that if the Appellant actually sold the cottages in Swells Cottages instead of renting them, they would be need to be sold as townhouses or condominiums to properly account for common ownership rights to the unsubdivided land, with common areas, amenities and thoroughfares. Otherwise, the owners of the 221 cottages would be tenants in common with no obligation to pay for maintenance or with no means to regulate use of the common areas and amenities. MIGC contends that such ownership would not be feasible for zoning purposes or for economic realities.

Citing Cmty. Servs. Assocs., Inc. v. Wall, 421 S.C. 575, 585, 808 S.E.2d 831, 836 (Ct. App. 2017) and Kinard v. Richardson, 407 S.C. 247, 754 S.E.2d 888 (Ct. App. 2014) Appellant claims those cases support its claim that renting residences instead owning them does not change the status of the residence from single family residential to commercial residential. The two cases cited by Appellant are not applicable to the present appeal. Those cases construe specific restrictive covenants that contain written restrictions that are different from Act 272 of 1985. In addition, the cases cited by Appellant address individual restrictive covenants and enforcing restrictions on the freedom of use of private property. In interpreting such restrictive covenants, ambiguities must be strictly construed against the party seeking to enforce them. Sea Pines Plantation Co. v. Wells, 294 S.C. 266, 270, 363 S.E.2d 891 (1987); Queen's Grant II Horizontal Prop. Regime v. Greenwood Dev. Corp., 368 S.C. 342, 374, 628 S.E.2d 902 (Ct. App. 2006). In the present appeal, MIGC is not attempting to enforce restrictive covenants or limit Appellant's use of its property. MIGC is distributing the burden of its service impact

fee created by Act 272 of 1985. MIGC's decision on distributing the impact fee burden is supported by the record and worthy of deference.

- II. *The decision of MIGC to impose a 2% fire impact fee on the Swells Cottages and the Circuit Court's affirmation of that decision is correct because MIGC's decision on the application of the 2% fire impact fee to Swells Cottages is supported by the record and worthy of judicial deference.*

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